RECEIVED

10-14-2013

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2013 AP 001128

In the Matter of the Refusal of David Adams:

VILLAGE OF HALES CORNERS,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAVID E. ADAMS,

Defendant- Appellant.

BRIEF & APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DATED MAY 14, 2013, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY The Honorable Carolina Stark, Presiding Trial Court Case No. 2012 TR 16882

Respectfully submitted:

ANDEREGG & ASSOCIATES Post Office Box 170258 Milwaukee, WI 53217-8021 (414) 963-4590

By: Rex R. Anderegg State Bar No. 1016560 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

I. WHETHER A TRAFFIC OFFICER, WHO HAS NO MORE THAN A VAGUE REPORT FROM AN UNIDENTIFIED TIPSTER OF A "POSSIBLE" DRUNK DRIVER (A TIP THAT INCLUDES NO DESCRIPTION OF ANY DRIVING BEHAVIOR), AND WHO NEVER SEES THE TIPSTER IN ANY PROXIMITY TO THE SUSPECT VEHICLE, AND WHO FIRST ENCOUNTERS THE SUSPECT VEHICLE PROPERLY PARKED IN A PARKING LOT, HAS REASONABLE SUSPICION TO SUMMARILY DETAIN THE VEHICLE'S DRIVER.

The trial court: answered Yes.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The appellant believes the Court's opinion in this case will meet the criteria for publication insofar as it will further develop the law regarding suspected OWI traffic stops. In particular, it will give greater definition to the contours of *State v. Rutzinski*, 2001 WI 22, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The appellant does not request oral argument insofar as he believes the briefs will sufficiently explicate the facts and law necessary for this Court to decide the issues presented.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order finding the defendant-appellant, David Adams, guilty of having unreasonably refused to submit to a chemical test, contrary to section 343.305(9), Stats. (R12; App. A). More specifically, this is an appeal of the trial court's conclusion, in the context of that refusal case, that there was reasonable suspicion to stop and detain Adams, as a prelude to arresting him for Operating While Intoxicated (OWI), contrary to section 346.63. (R16-16).

On August 27, 2011, Officer Douglas Sayeg, on patrol with the police department for the plaintiff-respondent, Village of Hales Corners, stopped and arrested 77-year-old David Adams and issued him a citation for OWI - First Offense. (R1; R16-8, 16). Officer Sayeg eventually issued Adams a Notice of Intent to Revoke Operating Privileges for having declined to submit to an evidentiary chemical test of his breath. (*Id.*). The case was initially venued in the Village of Hales Corners Municipal Court. (*Id.*). A refusal hearing was conducted there and Adams was deemed guilty of the refusal charge. (*Id.*).

Adams timely filed a *de novo* appeal to the Milwaukee County Circuit Court. (*Id.*). On February 5 and April 12, 2013, the circuit court conducted the evidentiary portion of a refusal hearing. (R16; R17). On May 7, 2013, the circuit court issued a decision from the bench on the refusal charge and ruled against Adams. (R18). On May 14, 2013, the circuit court entered an order memorializing its decision on the refusal charge. (R12). This appeal followed. (R14).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 27, 2011, shortly after 10:00 p.m., Officer Sayeg was on routine patrol in a marked squad car and heading eastbound on West Grange Avenue. (R9-Ex. 4; R16-10). At 10:07 p.m., Officer Sayeg received a dispatch of, in Officer Sayeg's own words, a "**possible** intoxicated driver." (R16-11)(emphasis added). The dispatch included a rough description of the vehicle (a red and gray van) and a license plate number. (*Id.*). Finally, dispatch also provided an approximate location of the vehicle (Forest Home and Highway 100). (*Id.*). It was apparent the report was coming from some other motorist. (*Id.*).

The dispatch indicated the vehicle in question was westbound on Forest Home. (R16-22). Officer Sayeg happened to be in the area, and also heading westbound on Forest Home. (*Id.*). Officer Sayeg thus continued westbound on Forest Home toward Highway 100 and began looking for the vehicle, when he received a second dispatch indicating the vehicle had turned into the parking lot of the China Inn. (R16-12). When that second dispatch arrived, Officer Sayeg was just a block or two from the China Inn and thus able to turn into the China Inn parking lot in a relatively short period of time. (R16-22, 24).

Upon entering the parking lot, Officer Sayeg immediately observed a red and gray van. (R16-24). Officer Sayeg testified the van was properly situated in a parking space, in a manner that in no way suggested an impaired driver. (R16-25). Nevertheless, Officer Sayeg immediately approached and positioned his squad car approximately three feet off the van's rear bumper, effectively blocking the van from moving. (*Id.*).

The record strongly suggests Officer Sayeg did this so quickly and immediately that he never cross-confirmed the respective license plate numbers.

At roughly the same time, the 77-year-old driver of the vehicle, David Adams, was stepping down from the van. (Id. at 13, 27). It was August and Adams was wearing shorts, which revealed both of his legs were bandaged from his calves down to his ankles, and he immediately began walking toward the squad car, now angled just off his rear bumper. (*Id.* at 13, 16). As the elderly Adams stepped from the van, he apparently used it to steady himself. (Id. at 13). Officer Sayeg immediately activated the emergency lights of his squad car, and Adams continued walking toward Officer Sayeg. (Id. at 14). The entire sequence of events were very rapid fire. Less than 40 seconds elapsed between the times: (1) Officer Sayeg was still on Forest Home confirming for dispatch that he would head toward the China Inn; and (2) Officer Sayeg advised dispatch he had already stopped "David Adams." (R9-Exs. 4 and 5; Apps. C and D).

ARGUMENT

I. A TRAFFIC OFFICER, WHO HAS NOTHING MORE THAN A VAGUE REPORT FROM AN UNIDENTIFIED TIPSTER OF A "POSSIBLE" DRUNK DRIVER (A TIP THAT INCLUDES NO DESCRIPTION OF ANY DRIVING BEHAVIOR), AND WHO NEVER SEES THE TIPSTER IN ANY PROXIMITY TO THE SUSPECT VEHICLE, AND WHO FIRST ENCOUNTERS THE VEHICLE PROPERLY PARKED IN A PARKING LOT, LACKS REASONABLE SUSPICION TO SUMMARILY DETAIN THE VEHICLE'S DRIVER.

A. Applicable Legal Standards.

It is appropriate for a circuit court to entertain, in the context of a refusal hearing, the defendant's position that the arrest was unlawful because the traffic stop that preceded it was not justified by either probable cause or reasonable suspicion. *In re Refusal of Anagnos*, 2011 WI App 118, ¶15, 337 Wis. 2d 57, 805 N.W.2d 722. The circuit court did so in this case and concluded the traffic stop of Adams was lawful. Whether an officer initiating a traffic stop has reasonable suspicion the vehicle's driver has committed an offense presents a question of law this Court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Jackson*, 147 Wis. 2d 824, 829, 434 N.W.2d 386 (1989). This Court will therefore pay no deference to the lower court's resolution of the issue. *State v. Hegwood*, 113 Wis. 2d 544, 547, 335 N.W.2d 399 (1983).

To pass muster under the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution, an officer initiating a traffic stop must, at a minimum, have a reasonable suspicion the driver of the vehicle has committed an offense. *State v. Guzy*, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 675, 407 N.W.2d 548 (1987). All investigative traffic stops, no matter how short the duration, must be objectively reasonable under the circumstances existing at the time of the stop. *Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 809-10 (1996); *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 55-56, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). Before initiating a stop, the officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences, objectively warrant a reasonable person with the knowledge and experience of the officer to believe criminal activity is afoot. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968).

B. A Vague Report Of "Possible" Drunk Driving, Made By An Unidentified Individual Neither Present At The Scene Of Stop Nor Otherwise Available To The Officer Does Not Give Rise To Reasonable Suspicion To Stop A Vehicle Already Properly Parked.

To properly analyze the issue *sub judice*, it must first be determined when Officer Sayeg's stop of Adams occurred. A stop occurs when an officer in some way restrains the liberty of a citizen by means of physical force or show of authority. *Florida v. Bostick*, 501 U.S. 429, 434 (1991). In determining whether a contact between a citizen and a police officer is a "stop" implicating *Terry*, the crucial consideration is whether the citizen was under a reasonable impression she was not free to

leave the officer's presence. *United States v. Wylie*, 569 F.2d 62, 68 (D.C. Cir. 1977). To that end, a suspect's acquiescence to an officer's show of authority establishes a *Terry* stop. *California v. Hodari D.*, 499 U.S. 62, 623-24 (1991). Whether a reasonable impression exists (i.e., that a person is not free to leave) depends on what a reasonable person, innocent of any crime, would have thought had she been in the citizen's shoes. *Wylie, supra* at 68.

Here, the stop occurred when Officer Sayeg positioned his marked squad car just a few feet from Adams' rear bumper, effectively blocking him into his parking spot. This constituted the requisite level of both a show of authority and physical restraint which, not surprisingly, caused Adams to acquiesce by immediately heading toward Officer Sayeg upon exiting his van. Because he apparently used the vehicle to help his 77-year-old body down from the van, Officer Sayeg immediately activated his squad car's emergency lights.¹

Having established when the stop occurred, the next step is to examine what information Officer Sayeg possessed at that precise point in time to support a traffic stop. The determination of reasonableness is a commonsense test based on the totality of the facts and circumstances known to the officer at the time of the stop. *State v. Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 139-40, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990). Ascertaining the facts and circumstances

¹It was later determined Adams indeed had leg injuries affecting his balance which prompted Officer Sayeg to administer alternate field sobriety tests that did not require Adams to demonstrate good balance. (R16-16, 28-29).

known to Officer Sayeg at the time of the stop is a relatively uncomplicated endeavor, in light of his testimony on the matter:

- Q And you pulled in behind the vehicle?
- A Yes.
- Q How close would you say you situated yourself to that vehicle?
- A I was on an angle and so it was probably maybe three to four feet from his rear bumper.

* * *

- Q And the vehicle, there was nothing unusual about the way the vehicle was parked?
- A That's correct.
- Q It was parked in a normal fashion, nothing that would suggest unsafe driving?
- A That's correct.
- Q At this stage, all the information that you have as a basis for the stop is the information that you have received from dispatch?

- A Correct.
- Q Which is . . . somebody reported a possible drunk driver in a vehicle that . . . matched Mr. Adam's vehicle?
- A Correct

* * *

Q And at this point, you haven't spoken directly to the person, whoever it was, that made that report?

* * *

- A I have not.
- Q At this point, you don't have the name of that individual.
- A No.
- And at this point, early stage when you are pulling in, looking at the vehicle, observing Mr. Adams exiting the vehicle, and putting on your emergency lights, you don't even know whether dispatch has the name . . . of the individual who made the report?
- A Correct

- Q You have already detained him and are investigating an OWI?
- A Yes...
- Q And the cellphone caller wasn't there at that time?
- A They were not. . . .
- Q Did you ever see that person that evening face to face? . . .
- A I did not.

(R16-24-27). The stop and detention of Adams, accordingly, was precipitated by nothing more than a report from an unidentified individual, nowhere to be found at the scene of the stop, who alleged a vehicle roughly matching the description of Adams' vehicle "possibly" had an intoxicated driver. Such vague information, low in general reliability, fell well below what was needed to justify an investigatory detention at that point in time.²

²As further discussed below, this is not to say all Officer Sayeg could do was turn his squad car around and leave. On the contrary, Officer Sayeg could have continued his investigation by remaining and watching the elderly gentleman walk to the China Inn, observing his actions and gait for signs of possible intoxication. He could have simultaneously radioed dispatch to see whether the tipster had explained "why" he believed the driver might "possibly" be intoxicated. Most importantly, he could have asked dispatch whether the tipster had been willing to identify him or herself.

That some unknown individual alleging possible drunk driving managed to report where Adams and his vehicle could be found parked, and that Officer Sayeg found Adams and his vehicle parked there (and parked properly), did not give rise to a reasonable suspicion to immediately stop and detain Adams. The investigation was far too inchoate at that point in time, particularly given the absence of an informant who had been willing to identify himself. In addition, there was no immediate danger to the public at the time the detention occurred.

The proper analysis of the issue in this case will revolve primarily around *State v. Rutzinski*, 2001 WI 22, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516, which addressed traffic stops based on reports from citizen informants. The legal backdrop for *Rutzinski* was a United States Supreme Court decision from the year before: *Florida v. J.L.*, 529 U.S. 266, 266 (2000). *J.L.* had held insufficient, to justify a stop and frisk, an unidentified tip that a person was carrying a concealed gun, even though the tipster provided an accurate description and location (bus stop) of the suspect, and further alleged criminal activity. That, of course, is precisely all Officer Sayeg had here. *J.L.* thus compels a similar result: the stop of Adams was unlawful. Not surprisingly, *J.L.*'s reasoning rings true in this case:

The tip in the instant case lacked the moderate indicia of reliability present in *White* and essential to the Court's decision in that case. The anonymous call concerning J. L. provided no predictive information and therefore left the police without means to test the informant's knowledge or credibility. That the allegation

about the gun turned out to be correct does not suggest that the officers, prior to the frisks, had a reasonable basis for suspecting J. L. of engaging in unlawful conduct: The reasonableness of official suspicion must be measured by what the officers knew before they conducted their search. All the police had to go on in this case was the bare report of an unknown, unaccountable informant who neither explained how he knew about the gun nor supplied any basis for believing he had inside information about J. L. If *White* was a close case on the reliability of anonymous tips, this one surely falls on the other side of the line.

J.L., 529 U.S. at 271.

The "close call" in *Alabama* v. *White*, 496 U.S. 325 (1990), to which *J.L.* referred offers a stark contrast to the facts of this case, and provides a measure of the general distrust with which the Supreme Court regards unidentified informants. In *White*, the unidentified tipster correctly predicted that a woman carrying a brown attache case (allegedly containing an ounce of cocaine) would be leaving a specific apartment building at a specific time in a brown Plymouth station wagon with the right taillight lens broken, and that she would then go to a specific motel. *Id.* at 327. This "close case" was called in favor of the government.

As can be seen, *J.L.*'s decision was based, *inter alia*, on the logic that before a tipster is willing to reveal her identity, the tip remains suspect since the tipster remains in a posture that

insulates her from the slightest repercussion in the event her report is fabricated. It is for this reason courts have generally taken a dim view of the reliability of unidentified tipsters. *J.L.* was also persuaded by the fact the tipster provided no "predicative information" the police could verify, other than a description and location of the suspect. *Id.* at 271.

Against this backdrop, *Rutzinski* examined the following factual circumstances. In *Rutzinski*, Officer Sardina overheard and responded to a police dispatch asking that a squad respond to the area of 51st Street and Grange Avenue because an unidentified motorist calling from a cell phone reported she was observing a black pickup truck weaving within its lane, varying its speed from too fast to too slow, and tailgating. *Rutzinski*, 2001 WI 22 at ¶ 4. While responding, Officer Sardina then received a second dispatch indicating the motorist was still on the phone, and that she and the black pickup had traveled to 60th and Grange. *Id.* at ¶ 5. Using this information, Officer Sardina determined the vehicles were heading toward him and positioned his squad car in the median and waited. *Id.* Officer Sardina then saw *both* vehicles pass his location and pulled behind the black pickup. *Id.* at ¶ 6.

After doing so, Officer Sardina received yet a third dispatch stating the motorist indicated she was now the vehicle *ahead* of the truck, could see Officer Sardina's squad, and confirmed Officer Sardina was following the correct truck. *Id.* Although Officer Sardina did not independently observe any signs of erratic driving, he activated his emergency lights and conducted a traffic stop of the black pickup. *Id.* at ¶ 7. The

motorist who reported Rutzinski's erratic driving also pulled over when, and where, Officer Sardina made the stop. *Id*.

Rutzinski ultimately concluded these circumstances gave rise to a reasonable suspicion to stop the vehicle. In so doing, it distinguished *J.L.*.with the following observations:

- (1) By giving the location of his vehicle with respect to the suspect vehicle, the informant exposed herself to being identified by police;
- (2) The informant provided police with verifiable information indicating her basis of knowledge; and
- (3) The tip suggested Rutzinski posed an imminent threat to the public's safety.

Rutzinski at ¶32-36. Rutzinski noted that when the basis for an investigative stop depends solely on an informant's tip, the officer must consider both the veracity of the informant and the content of the tip as it relates to the informant's basis of knowledge of alleged illegality. Rutzinski, at 18. A deficiency in

one might be compensated by a strong showing as to the other.³ *Id. citing Illinois v. Gates*, 426 U.S. 213, 233 (1983).

It is problematic to try to justify the stop of Adams in light of the decision in *Rutzinski*. There are deficiencies in all of the considerations, and no strong showing to compensate for any of the deficiencies. Indeed, the problems are manifold. Chief among them is that from Officer Sayeg's perspective (the only perspective that matters), the identity of the tipster who reported a "possible intoxicated driver" was completely unknown. Indeed, the record reveals that at the time of the stop, the tipster's identity was not even known to dispatch. Moreover, and critically, neither was tipster anywhere to be found at the location of the stop, either prior to it, or at the time it was effectuated. (R16-24). Thus, from Officer Sayeg's perspective, the caller had not exposed himself to being identified by police.⁴

³ While *J.L* did not consider a juvenile carrying a concealed gun sufficiently dangerous to support a *Terry* search, it did state, in what amounted to dicta (and using a hypothetical report of a person carrying a bomb) that "extraordinary dangers sometimes justify unusual precautions." *Id.* at 272-74. *Rutzinski* seized on this language to conclude the danger posed by a suspected drunk driver moving on the road may be sufficient to justify a traffic stop. *Rutzinski*, at ¶35.

⁴That the caller's identity was not even known to dispatch at the time of the stop is evident from the transcripts of the 911 call and the dispatch tape. *Compare* App. C, p. 2 (stop occurred before 10:08:35) *and* App. D, p. 3 (caller provides identity at 10:09:36).

This major shortfall in establishing reasonable suspicion, might have been overcome, as Rutzinski teaches, had the tipster been present at the scene of Adams' stop (or more precisely, had Officer Sayeg reasonably believed the tipster was present). This was not a stop, however, like Rutzinski where the officer was expressly told the tipster was still following along with the suspect vehicle. Nor is this a case, like *Rutzinski*, where Officer Sayeg saw the tipster's vehicle pass his location, confirming it was still traveling with the suspect vehicle. And this is not a case, like Rutzinski, where Officer Sayeg received a dispatch stating the tipster had spotted the squad car, confirmed she was still traveling with the suspect vehicle, further provided her position vis-a-vis the suspect vehicle, and then confirmed the officer had correctly located, and was now following, the vehicle that was the object of her report. Nor did the tipster stay at the scene of Adams' stop because, as already noted, he was nowhere near that location. Thus, both the tipster's identity and location were unknown to Officer Sayeg when the stop occurred. This, as *Rutzinski* noted, places the tipster in this case on the very low end of the reliability spectrum. *Rutzinski* at ¶22.

Equally problematic, from the standpoint of trying to fit the square peg of this case into the round hole of *Rutzinski*, is the vague nature of the report as it was communicated to Officer Sayeg, remarkable for its lack of any description of the alleged driving. Here, the anonymous report was first equivocal ("possible"), and second vague ("drunk driver"), and devoid of the detailed and descriptive information the officer in *Rutzinski* received (i.e., weaving, remarkable speed deviations, tailgating). The information (indicating a basis of knowledge) Officer Sayeg received from the unidentified and unidentifiable informant was

not verifiable to anywhere near the degree as that enjoyed by the officer in *Rutzinski*.

The final coup de grâce to the legality of the stop of Adams is that the circumstances did not provide the same level of urgency as that at play in Rutzinski. Officer Sayeg was not confronted with the same level of urgency or immediate danger to the public and consequently, there was a material difference in the degree of exigency associated with a decision to stop Adams without even minimal additional investigation. Adams' vehicle was off the road and parked, properly, in a parking lot squarely within the area Officer Sayeg was already assigned to patrol that evening. The driver, moreover, had already exited the vehicle and was known to be an elderly gentleman. While in Rutzinski further investigation by the officer could have resulted, with each passing moment, in significant harm to another motorist or pedestrian, the same was decidedly not true with regard to Adams. Officer Sayeg had time to further investigate the report. This factor, in particular, more closely aligns this case with the facts of J.L., and thus its outcome, than with the facts of *Rutzinski*, in a way *Rutzinski* would have understood:

In the case of a concealed gun, the possession itself might be legal, and the police could, in any event, surreptitiously observe the individual for a reasonable period of time without running the risk of death or injury with every passing moment.

Rutzinski at ¶35 (emphasis added), *quoting State v. Boyea*, 765 A.2d 862, 867 (Vt. 2000).⁵

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