RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **11-08-2013** COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** APPEAL NO. 2013AP001128

IN THE MATTER OF THE REFUSAL OF DAVID ADAMS:

VILLAGE OF HALES CORNERS,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

DAVID E. ADAMS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE ORDER OF THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT DATED MAY 14, 2013 THE HONORABLE CAROLINA MARIA STARK PRESIDING

Circuit Court Case No. 2012TR16882

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Lichtsinn & Haensel, S.C. Willard G. Neary State Bar No. 1003258 Joseph A. Abruzzo State Bar No. 1055085 111 E. Wisconsin Ave., #1800 Milwaukee, WI 53202 (414) 276-3400

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court Properly Held that Officer Sayeg Possessed Reasonable Suspicion to Initiate a Traffic Stop on Adams.

Whether there was probable cause or reasonable suspicion to conduct a stop is a question of constitutional fact, which is a mixed question of law and fact to which this court shall apply a two-step standard of review. First, this Court shall review the Circuit Court's findings of historical fact under the clearly erroneous standard. Second, this Court shall review the application of those historical facts to the constitutional principles independent of the determinations rendered by the Circuit Court. In re Refusal of Anagnos, 2012 WI 64, ¶21, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675.

"A law enforcement officer may lawfully conduct an investigatory stop if, based upon the officer's experience, he or she reasonably suspects "that criminal activity may be afoot."" State v. Wittrock, 2012 WI App 40, ¶6, 340 Wis. 2d 499, 812 N.W.2d 540 (unpublished), citing State v. Williams, 2001 WI 21, ¶21, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106 (quoting Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 30, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1969)). "Reasonable suspicion is dependent on whether the officer's suspicion was grounded in specific, articulable facts, and reasonable inferences from

those facts, that an individual was committing a crime." Wittrock, at $\P6$, citing State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 55-56, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). The stop must be based on something more than an officer's "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch." State v. Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, ¶14, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516. The test for determining whether reasonable suspicion exists is based upon an objective standard and takes into account the totality of the circumstances. State v. Rissley, 2012 WI App 112, ¶9, 344 Wis. 2d 422, 824 N.W.2d 853, citing State v. Williams, 2001 WI 21, ¶21, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. Reasonable suspicion must be based on "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant" the intrusion of the stop. Rissley, at ¶9, citing State v. Post, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶10, 733 N.W.2d 634 (quoting Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968)). "The crucial question is whether the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing, or is about to commit a crime." Rissley, at ¶9, citing Post, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶13, 733 N.W.2d 634. That commonsense approach "balances the interests" of the State in detecting, preventing, and investigating crime and the rights of the individuals to be free from unreasonable intrusions." id.

A determination of reasonable suspicion for an investigatory stop and subsequent protective search is a question of constitutional fact. State

v. Kammeyer, 2013 WI App 30, ¶5, 346 Wis. 2d 279, 827 N.W.2d 929 (unpublished), citing State v. Williams, 2001 WI 21, ¶18, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. While this standard was set forth in the United States Supreme Court case of Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968), the State of Wisconsin codified the reasonable suspicion standard in Wis. Stat. §968.24.

The State bears the burden of proving that a temporary detention was reasonable. Pickens, at ¶14: Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 500, 103 S.Ct. 1319, 75 L.Ed.2d 229 (1983): State v. Quartana, 213 Wis. 2d 440, 445, 570 N.W.2d 618 (Ct. App. 1997). Such a detention requires a reasonable suspicion, grounded in "specific and articulable facts," and reasonable inferences from those facts, that an individual was engaging in illegal activity. Pickens, at ¶14: Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968): see also State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 56, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

The Terry Court explained that courts need the underlying articulable facts in order to perform their neutral oversight function:

[I]n justifying the particular intrusion [at a suppression hearing] the police officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion. The scheme of the Fourth Amendment becomes meaningful only when it is assured that at some point the conduct of those charged with enforcing the laws can be

subjected to the more detached, neutral scrutiny of a judge...

Pickens, at ¶14; Terry, 392 U.S. at 21, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (footnote omitted); See also Johnson v. United States, 333 U.S. 10, 13-14, 68 S.Ct. 367, 92 L.Ed. 436 (1948) (the protection of the Fourth Amendment consists of requiring that facts and reasonable inferences from those facts "be drawn by a neutral and detached magistrate instead of being judged by the officer engaged in the often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime.").

Where an officer relies on information provided by dispatch, "reasonable suspicion is assessed by looking at the collective knowledge of police officers." Wittrock, at ¶7, citing State v. Pickens, 2010 WI App 5, ¶11, 323 Wis. 2d 226, 779 N.W.2d 1 (Wis. App 2009). "[U]nder the collective knowledge doctrine, '[t]he police force is considered as a unit and where there is police-channel communication to the arresting officer and he acts in good faith thereon, the arrest is based on probable cause when such facts exist within the police department." Rissley, at ¶19, citing State v. Mabra, 61 Wis. 2d 613, 625-26, 213 N.W.2d 545 (1974). "The same reasoning applies to cases involving investigatory stops based upon reasonable suspicion." Rissley, at ¶19; State v. Pickens, 2010 WI App 5, ¶11-12, 15-17, 323 Wis. 2d 226, 779 N.W.2d 1; see also Hensley, 469 U.S. at 232, 105 S.Ct. 675 ("[I]f a...bulletin has been issued on the basis of articulable facts supporting a reasonable suspicion that the wanted person has committed an offense, then reliance on that...bulletin justifies a stop...")

If a defendant moves to suppress, the prosecutor must prove the collective knowledge that supports the stop. Wittrock, at ¶7, citing State v. Pickens, 2010 WI App 5 at ¶13. Thus, when an officer relies on an ATL or bulletin [or dispatch] in making a stop, the inquiry is whether the officer that initiated the ATL or communication, not the responding officer, had knowledge of specific and articulable facts supporting reasonable suspicion at the time of the stop. Wittrock, at ¶7 (emphasis added), citing United States v. Hensley, 469 U.S. 221, 231-32, 233, 105 S.Ct. 675, 83 L.Ed.2d 604 (1985) (evidence uncovered in the course of a Terry stop "is admissible if the police who issued the flyer or bulletin possessed a reasonable suspicion justifying a stop.") Thus, for cases under the collective knowledge doctrine, the court must consider the information available to both the dispatcher and the police officer who made the stop when deciding whether the stop was justified by reasonable suspicion. Rissley, at ¶19.

In the present case, Adams only asserts that there was one finding of fact by the Circuit Court that constituted an erroneous finding. Specifically, Adams takes exception to the following statement of the Circuit Court:

> The citizen call provided the following information that was initially communicated by dispatch to Officer Sayeg. The citizen caller reported that they were following a red and gray van with license plate number 157817, that the van was all over the road on Forest Home traveling west and approaching Highway 100.

While Adams does not dispute the above finding of fact in its entirety, Adams takes issue with the fact that dispatch never informed Officer Sayeg that the 'van was all over the road.' However, as the transcript points out, dispatch did inform Officer Sayeg that there was a 'possible drunk driver,' after first receiving the information that the van was all over the road. (R.9, Ex. 3, Ex.4, Ex.5) This is a conclusion – possible drunk driver – that was made by the dispatcher after being informed that a van is all over the road. (R.9, Ex. 3, Ex.4, Ex.5) Thus, the Circuit Court's finding of fact was not erroneous. However, even if this finding of fact is erroneous, it is immaterial to this Court's analysis of law. Namely, pursuant to the collective knowledge doctrine, the court is to consider the information available to both the dispatcher and the police officer who made the stop. Rissley, at ¶19.

Here, because the Findings of Fact by the Circuit Court are undisputed, and are not erroneous, this Court must apply those facts to the law. Specifically, based upon the Findings of Fact made by the Circuit Court, did Officer Sayeg possess reasonable suspicion to initiate a traffic stop on Adams? The answer is yes.

First, while Officer Sayeg partially relied upon a police communication – here a police dispatch – in the absence of his personal knowledge, Adams has failed to address the collective knowledge doctrine. Rather, Adams' sole focus on appeal is what information Officer Sayeg was

personally aware of. Adams' proposed analysis does not comply with Wisconsin law. Under the collective knowledge doctrine, this Court must look at all facts known within the police department - including the dispatcher – at the time Officer Sayeg made the stop. In the present case, this includes the information provided by the citizen caller to police dispatch stating that the van was all over the road, regardless of whether the dispatcher relayed this specific fact to Officer Sayeg. (R.9, Ex. 3, Ex.4, Because it is undisputed that the citizen caller informed the Ex.5) dispatcher that the van it was following was all over the road, the Court must take this fact into consideration in determining whether reasonable suspicion existed for Officer Sayeg to make the stop. (R.9, Ex. 3, Ex.4, Ex.5) Further, this statement, on its face, constitutes a specific, articulable fact, that Adams was committing a crime. Accordingly, Officer Sayed possessed reasonable suspicion when he made the stop.

Because Adams failed to address or acknowledge the collective knowledge doctrine, Adams' appellate brief is misguided. In particular, Adams primary focus on appeal revolves around what information was actually transmitted to Officer Sayeg, rather than on what information was possessed by the dispatcher who made the police dispatch. Because Adams failed to address this issue or the proper law, the majority of Adams appellate analysis is incorrect.

Second, while Adams focused on the court's holding in State v. Rutzinski, 2001 WI 22, ¶¶32-36, regarding the veracity of an informant's tip combined with the content of the tip, once again, Adams analysis is flawed. Specifically, Adams analysis is viewed solely from Officer Sayeg's perspective, without taking into consideration the information known to the dispatcher that was provided by the citizen caller. (See Appellant's Brief pp.13-14) Therefore, Adams' legal analysis is flawed and without merit. Had Adams performed a proper legal analysis, as conducted under the collective knowledge doctrine, it is clear that the considerations set forth in Rutzinski are present. Namely, the citizen caller, based upon their personal observations, stated that they were following the suspect vehicle – providing a color, description, and license plates of the vehicle; that the "van was all over the road;" and they provided real-time updates as to the van's location. (R.9, Ex. 3, Ex.4, Ex.5) This information provided by the citizen caller constituted credible, verifiable observations that were provided contemporaneously to the dispatcher as they occurred. (R.9, Ex. 3, Ex.4, Ex.5) Further, the information provided by the citizen caller contained sufficient detail – location, license plates, color of vehicle, type of vehicle, driving behavior – such that the observations were credible. (R.9, Ex. 3, Ex.4, Ex.5) Finally, the information provided by the citizen caller were sufficient to suggest that Adams posed an imminent threat to public

safety – erratic driving, all over the road (a sign of a possible intoxicated driver), then going into a parking lot where pedestrians may also be present.¹ (R.9, Ex. 3, Ex.4, Ex.5) Based upon the totality of the circumstances (including information known to the dispatcher), Officer Sayeg possessed reasonable suspicion to stop Adams.

Third, while Officer Sayeg primarily relied upon the collective knowledge of the dispatcher, Officer Sayeg was able to also make his own observation of Adams prior to initiating the stop. (R-App.3-4; R.18,pp.3-4) Specifically, prior to activating his overhead emergency lights and initiating the stop, Officer Sayeg personally observed Adams exit the vehicle and have a hard time maintaining his balance. (R-App.3-4; R.18,pp.3-4) In fact, Officer Sayeg testified that Adams had to use the vehicle to maintain his balance. (R-App.3-4; R.18,pp.3-4) This observation, coupled with the information possessed by the dispatcher as reported by the civilian witness, constitutes reasonable suspicion such that the stop on Adams was lawful. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the holding of the Circuit Court.

¹ Adams argues that he was no longer an imminent threat to public safety because he had pulled into a parking lot and legally parked his vehicle. However, at the time of the stop, Officer Sayeg did not know Adams' intentions (have dinner, have more to drink, leave, etc.) other than the fact that this was not Adams' home and that he may continue to drive further.

CONCLUSION

The Circuit Court properly exercised its discretion in making its findings of fact; and further, properly applied those facts to the law. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the decision of the Circuit Court.